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1

MARKET ASSESSMENT

1.1  Market Summary
Approximately seven of every 10 U.S. adults placed a wager of some type at

least once in 2009.
In 2009, Americans wagered approximately $900 billion at casinos and

racetracks, playing lottery games, and on other forms of legal betting.  The estimated
$100 billion to $300 billion wagered annually in the U.S. on sports events and the more
than $100 billion in estimated online bets are not included in this total.

The bulk of total wagers is returned to the wagering public as winnings.  Gross
gaming revenue, or the amount retained by casinos, racetracks, lotteries, and other
gaming hosts totaled $80.5 billion in 2009.  Distribution by type of activity was as
follows (sources: American Gaming Association [www.americangaming.org], National
Indian Gaming Commission [www.nigc.gov], International Gaming & Wagering
Business, state gaming commissions, and state lotteries):
1. Casinos

-  Land-based/riverboat casinos and racinos: $30.7 billion
-  Tribal casinos:* $26.8 billion

2. Lotteries: $17.9 billion
3. Parimutuel wagering (thoroughbred, harness, 

and greyhound racing, and jai-alai): $  3.0 billion
4. Card rooms (poker): $  1.1 billion
5. Charitable bingo: $     826 million
6. Sports books: $     136 million
* Most recent data is for FY2008

1.2  State-by-State Summary
All but two states – Hawaii and Utah – allow some form of wagering.  Forty-one

(41) states allow casinos.* **  Parimutuel wagering is legal in 41 states.  Forty-two (43)
jurisdictions (i.e., 42 states and the District of Columbia) operate lotteries. 

The following is a summary of gaming and wagering allowed in each state: 
                    Casinos          Parimutuel         Lottery

• Alabama: T T o
• Alaska: T o o
• Arizona: T T T
• Arkansas: T T T
• California: T T T

http://www.americangaming.org
http://www.nigc.gov
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5

GAMING COMMISSIONS

5.1  Directory of Gaming Commissions
The regulatory agencies overseeing casino operations in each state are as

follows:
Alaska
• Alaska Division of Regional and Community Affairs
• P.O. Box 110809, Juneau, AK 99811.  (907) 465-4751
• Website: www.tax.state.ak.us/programs/gaming/

Arizona
• Arizona Department of Gaming 
• 202 East Earll Drive, Suite 200, Phoenix, AZ 85012.  (602) 604-1801
• Website: www.gm.state.az.us

California
• California Gambling Control Commission 
• 2399 Gateway Oaks Drive, Suite 220, Sacramento, CA 95833.  (916) 263-0700
• Website: www.cgcc.ca.gov

Colorado
• Colorado Division of Gaming 
• 1881 Pierce Street, Suite 112, Lakewood, CO 80214.  (303) 205-1355
• Website: www.revenue.state.co.us/gaming/home.asp

Connecticut
• Connecticut Division of Special Revenue 
• 555 Russell Road, Newington, CT 06111.  (860) 594-0500 
• Website: www.ct.gov/dosr/site/

Delaware
• Delaware Gaming Control Board 
• 861 Silver Lake Boulevard, Suite 203, Dover, DE 19904.  (302) 744-4500
• Website: www.dpr.delaware.gov/boards/gaming/

http://www.tax.state.ak.us/programs/gaming/
http://www.gm.state.az.us/
http://www.cgcc.ca.gov
http://www.revenue.state.co.us/Gaming/home.asp
http://www.ct.gov/dosr/site/
http://www.dpr.delaware.gov/boards/gaming/
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Florida
• Florida Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
• 1940 North Monroe Street, Tallahassee, FL 32399.  (850) 487-1395
• Website: www.myflorida.com/dbpr/pmw/

Illinois
• Illinois Gaming Board 
• 800 South Seventh Street, Suite 400 - South, Springfield, IL 62794.  (217) 524-0226
• Website: www.igb.state.il.us/

Indiana
• Indiana Gaming Commission 
• 101 West Washington Street, Suite 1600, Indianapolis, IN 46204.  (317) 233-0046
• Website: www.in.gov/gaming/

Iowa
• Iowa Racing and Gaming Commission 
• 717 East Court, Suite B, Des Moines, IA 50309.  (515) 281-7352
• Website: www.state.ia.us/irgc/

Kansas
• Kansas Racing and Gaming Commission 
• 700 S.W. Harrison, Suite 500, Topeka, KS 66603.  (785) 296-5800.
• Website: www.krgc.ks.gov 

Louisiana
• Louisiana Gaming Control Board 
• 9100 Bluebonnet Centre Boulevard, Suite 500, Baton Rouge, LA 70809

(225) 295-8450.
• Website: www.dps.state.la.us/lgcb/

Maine
• Maine Gambling Control Board 
• 45 Commerce Drive, 87 SHS, Augusta, ME 40333.  (207) 626-3900
• Website: www.maine.gov/dps/GambBoard/

Michigan
• Michigan Gaming Control Board 
• 3062 West Grand Boulevard, Suite L-700, Detroit, MI 48202.  (313) 456-4100
• Website: www.michigan.gov/mgcb/

http://www.myflorida.com/dbpr/pmw/
http://www.igb.state.il.us/
http://www.in.gov/gaming/
http://www.state.ia.us/irgc/
http://www.krgc.ks.gov
http://www.dps.state.la.us/lgcb/
http://www.maine.gov/dps/GambBoard/
http://www.michigan.gov/mgcb/
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Minnesota
• Minnesota Gambling Control Board 
• 1711 West County Road B, Suite 300 South, Roseville, MN 55113.  (651) 639-4000
• Website: www.gcb.state.mn.us/

Mississippi
• Mississippi Gaming Commission 
• 620 North Street, Suite 200, P.O. Box 23577, Jackson, MS 39225.  (601) 576-3800
• Website: www.mgc.state.ms.us/

Missouri
• Missouri Gaming Commission 
• 3417 Knipp Drive, P.O. Box 1847, Jefferson City, MO 65102.  (573) 526-4080 
• Website: www.mgc.dps.mo.gov 

Montana
• Montana Gaming Control Board 
• 2550 Prospect Avenue, P.O. Box 201424, Helena, MT 59620.  (406) 444-1971
• Website: www.doj.mt.gov/gaming/

Nevada
• Nevada Gaming Commission and State Gaming Control Board 
• 1919 College Parkway, Carson City, NV 89706.  (775) 684-7750 
• Website: www.gaming.nv.gov/

New Jersey
• New Jersey Casino Control Commission 
• Tennessee Avenue & Boardwalk, Atlantic City, NJ 08401.  (609) 441-3799 
• Website: www.state.nj.us/casinos/

New Mexico
• New Mexico Gaming Control Board 
• 4900 Alameda Boulevard NE, Albuquerque NM 87113.  (505) 841-9700
• Website: www.nmgcb.org 

New York
• New York State Racing and Wagering Board 
• One Broadway Center, Suite 600, Schenectady, NY 12305.  (518) 395-5400
• Website: www.racing.state.ny.us/

North Dakota
• North Dakota Gaming Division 
• 600 East Boulevard Avenue, Dept. 125, Bismarck, ND 58505.  (701) 328-2210
• Website: www.ag.state.nd.us/Gaming/Gaming.htm

http://www.gcb.state.mn.us/
http://www.mgc.state.ms.us/
http://www.mgc.dps.mo.gov
http://www.doj.mt.gov/gaming/
http://www.gaming.nv.gov/
http://www.state.nj.us/casinos/
http://www.nmgcb.org
http://www.racing.state.ny.us/
http://www.ag.state.nd.us/Gaming/Gaming.htm
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Oregon
• Gaming Enforcement Division of the Oregon State Police 
• 3400 State Street, Suite G-750, Salem, OR 97301.  (503) 378-6999 
• Website: www.oregon.gov/osp/gaming/

Pennsylvania
• Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board 
• P.O. Box 69060, Harrisburg, PA 17106.  (717) 346-8300 
• Website: www.pgcb.state.pa.us/

South Dakota
• South Dakota Commission on Gaming 
• 221 West Capital Avenue, Suite 101, Pierre, SD 57501.  (605) 773-6050.
• Website: www.state.sd.us/drr2/reg/gaming/

Washington
• Washington State Gambling Commission 
• P.O. Box 42400, Olympia, WA 98504.  (360) 486-3440
• Website: www.wsgc.wa.gov/

West Virginia
• West Virginia Racing Commission 
• 106 Dee Drive, Suite 2 Charleston WV 25311.  (304) 558-2150
• Website: www.wvracingcommission.com 

Wisconsin
• Wisconsin Department of Administration - Division of Gaming 
• 3319 West Beltline Highway, First Floor, Madison, WI 53713.  (608) 270-2555 
• Website: www.doa.state.wi.us/gaming/

http://www.oregon.gov/osp/gaming/
http://www.pgcb.state.pa.us/
http://www.state.sd.us/drr2/reg/gaming/
http://www.wsgc.wa.gov/
http://www.wvracingcommission.com
http://www.doa.state.wi.us/gaming/
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6

CASINOS: STATE-BY-STATE

6.1  Overview
Casinos operations are legal in 41 states.  This chapter presents a summary of

casinos in each of these states.  There is no casino gaming in Georgia, Hawaii,
Kentucky, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, South Carolina, Tennessee, Utah,
Vermont, and Virginia.  Recent legislation allows commercial casinos in Maryland and
Ohio but none have yet opened.

The assessment of this chapter includes only casinos with electronic gaming
machines and/or table games; poker rooms and bingo parlors are not included.

Data in this chapter is sourced from Casino City’s Gaming Business Directory
(Winter 2010 Edition), the American Gaming Association (www.americangaming.org),
state gaming commissions, and casino websites.

6.2  Alabama
   

Overview
• Parimutuel betting is allowed in Alabama and the operation of Class II slot machines

is allowed at the tracks.
• Class II gaming facilities are operated by the Poarch Band of Creek Indians.  These

operations are relatively unregulated.   Casinos offer slot machines and bingo but
not table games.

• Slot machine operations at parimutuel tracks in Alabama are relatively unregulated 
and gross gaming revenues are not reported.

Number of Casinos
• Tribal casinos: 3
• Racinos: 2
• Total: 5

Tribal Casinos
                                                                                                                Gaming Machines

• Wind Creek Casino and Hotel - Atmore (www.windcreekcasino.com):     1,600
• Riverside Entertainment Center - Wetumpka 

(www.creekbingo.com/wec.htm):        900
• Tallapoosa Entertainment Center - Montgomery (www.pcigaming.com): 500

http://www.americangaming.org
http://www.windcreekcasino.com
http://www.creekbingo.com/wec.htm
http://www.pcigaming.com


CASINOS, GAMING & WAGERING 2010

•  48  •

Racinos                                                                                                                 Gaming Machines

• VictoryLand and Quincy’s 777 Casino (www.victoryland.com):     5,100
• Greentrack - Eutaw (www.greentrackpaysyoumoney.com):     1,500

6.3  Alaska
   

Overview
• Tribes operate Class II gaming facilities with pulltabs and traditional bingo.  There

are eight such facilities in the state, as follows:
-  Agate Pull Tabs (Sand Point)
-  Atka Ira Council (Atka)
-  Klawock IRA Pull Tab Shoppe (Klawock)
-  Metlakata Indian Community Bingo (Metlakatla)
-  Native Village Barrow Pull Tabs (Barrow)
-  Organized Village of Kake Bingo (Kake)
-  Sitka Tribal Bingo (Sitka)
-  Tlinga and Haida Indians of CBJ Bingo (Juneau)

Of these facilities, three operated a combined total of 80 Class II slot machines.

    _________________________________________________________________

“If one is looking for casino gambling in Alaska,
the term ‘few and far between’ fits nicely.”

       World Casino Directory, 5/10
    _________________________________________________________________

6.4  Arizona
   

Overview
• The current Arizona Tribal-State Gaming Compact between the state and 21 tribes

went into effect in 2003.  The compact with each tribe is identical.
• The 25 tribal gaming facilities with slot machines are operated by 15 tribes.  Another

6 tribal nations do not have casinos but have slot machine rights they lease to other
tribes with casinos.  A complete list of casinos is available at
www.gm.state.az.us/casinos.htm.  In addition to the 25 casinos, three bingo parlors
(without slot machines) operate within the state.

• Under the Arizona Tribal-State Gaming Compact, tribes in Arizona that operate
casinos contribute 1% to 8% of their Class III net win to education, healthcare, and
other programs that benefit Arizona residents.  A tribe’s contribution is determined

http://www.victoryland.com
http://www.greentrackpaysyoumoney.com
http://www.gm.state.az.us/casinos.htm
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on a sliding scale based on the amount of the tribe’s Class III net win.  A tribe pays
1% in contributions for its first $25 million in Class III net win, 3% for the next $50
million, 6% for the next $25 million, and 8% for the Class III net win in excess of
$100 million.

• All Arizona casinos have slot machines, video poker, and video keno.  Optional
games include blackjack, Spanish 21, let it ride, poker, live keno, bingo, and off-
track betting.

Number of Casinos
• Tribal casinos:   25
• Total:   25

Gross Gaming Revenue, Tribal Casinos
• FY2006: $1.94 billion
• FY2007: $2.03 billion
• FY2008: $1.91 billion

  Slot               Table

Tribal Casinos                        Machines        Games

• Desert Diamond Casino [Nogales Highway]
(www.desertdiamondcasino.com): 1,089 24

• Harrah’s Phoenix Ak-Chin Casino Resort
(www.harrahsakchin.com): 1,089 11

• Casino Arizona [101 Freeway at McKellips]
(www.casinoaz.com): 1,021 43

• Casino Del Sol - Tucson
(www.casinodelsol.com):    952 20

• Hon-Dah Resort Casino - Pinetop
(www.hon-dah.com):    876   4

• Gila River Casino at Wild Horse Pass - Chandler
(www.wingilariver.com/wildhorsepass.php):    875 21

• Fort McDowell Casino
(www.fortmcdowellcasino.com):    855 26

• Gila River Casino - Vee Quiva
(www.wingilariver.com/veequiva.php):    834 13

6.5  Arkansas
   

Overview
• Greyhound races are run at Southland Greyhound Park in West Memphis, and there

is thoroughbred racing at Oaklawn Park in Hot Springs.  Horse race-themed
electronic gaming machines are classified as games of skill in Arkansas and as such
their operation is allowed.

http://www.desertdiamondcasino.com
http://www.harrahsakchin.com
http://www.casinoaz.com
http://www.casinodelsol.com
http://www.hon-dah.com
http://www.wingilariver.com/wildhorsepass.php
http://www.fortmcdowellcasino.com
http://www.wingilariver.com/veequiva.php
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Number of Casinos
• Racinos: 2
• Total: 2

Racinos
                                                                                   Gaming Machines

• Oaklawn Park (www.oaklawn.com):             650
• Southland Park (www.southlandgreyhound.com):       631

6.6  California
   

Overview
• The state has compacts with 61 Indian nations casinos in California for the

operation of Class III casinos.

Number of Casinos
• Tribal casinos:    68
• Total:    68

Gross Gaming Revenue, Tribal Casinos
• FY2006: $7.68 billion
• FY2007: $7.77 billion
• FY2008: $7.34 billion
            Gaming         Table

Tribal Casinos*          Machines      Games

• Penchanga Resort & Casino (www.penchanga.com): 4,900 158
• San Manuel Indian Bingo & Casino (www.sanmanuel.com): 3,000   70
• Viejas Casino (www.viejas.com): 2,500   63
• Cache Creek Casino Resort (www.cachecreek.com): 2,400 122
• Morongo Casino Resort & Spa 

(www.morongocasinoresort.com): 2,216   79
• Pala Casino Spa and Resort (www.palacasino.com): 2,250   87
• Barona Valley Ranch Resort and Casino (www.barona.com): 2,000   70
• Sycuan Casino Resort (www.sycuancasino.com): 2,000   64
• Chumash Casino Resort (www.chumashcasino.com): 2,000   40
• Tachi Palace Hotel and Casino (www.tachipalace.com): 2,000   40
• Table Mountain Casino (www.tmcasino.com): 2,000   38
• Spotlight 29 Casino (www.spotlight29.net): 2,000   30
• Valley View Casino (www.valleyviewcasino.com): 2,000   24
• Soboba Casino (www.soboba.net): 2,000   22
• Fantasy Springs Resort Casino 

(www.fantasyspringsresort.com): 1,959   40
• Chukchansi Gold Resort and Casino 

(www.chukchansigold.com): 1,830   47

http://www.oaklawn.com
http://www.southlandgreyhound.com
http://www.penchanga.com
http://www.sanmanuel.com
http://www.viejas.com
http://www.cachecreek.com
http://www.morongocasinoresort.com
http://www.palacasino.com
http://www.barona.com
http://www.sycuancasino.com
http://www.chumashcasino.com
http://www.tachipalace.com
http://www.tmcasino.com
http://www.spotlight29.net
http://www.valleyviewcasino.com
http://www.soboba.net
http://www.fantasyspringsresort.com
http://www.chukchansigold.com
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• Harrah’s Rincon Casino and Resort (www.harrahsrincon.com): 1,650   51
• Agua Caliente Casino (www.hotwatercasino.com): 1,600   36
• Jackson Rancheria Casino & Hotel (www.jacksoncasino.com): 1,525   50
• Eagle Mountain Casino (www.eaglemtncasino.com): 1,500   11
• River Rock Casino (www.riverrockcasino.com): 1,300   24
• Thunder Valley Casino (www.thundervalleyresort.com): 1,200   97
• San Pablo Lytton Casino (www.sanpablolytton.com): 1,185   11
• Casino Pauma (www.casinopauma.com):   1,132   19
• Feather Falls Casino (www.featherfallscasino.com): 1,100   12
• Win-River Casino (www.winriver.com): 1,026   12
• Black Oak Casino (www.blackoakcasino.com): 1,013   24
• Spa Resort Casino (www.sparesortcasino.com):   1,000   32
• Gold Country Casino & Hotel (www.goldcountrycasino.com):    900   15
• Colusa Casino Resort (www.colusacasino.com):    846   18
*  Only larger casinos are listed.

6.7  Colorado
    

Overview
• Limited stakes casino gaming was approved in 1991 to spark economic

revitalization for three Colorado mining and mill towns: Black Hawk, Central City,
and Cripple Creek.  Electronic games (slot machines, video poker, video blackjack,
and video keno) and table games (poker, blackjack, let it ride, and three-card poker)
are allowed.  Two tribal casinos operating in the state abide by the gaming rules
established for commercial casinos. 

• In November 2008, voters approved a constitutional amendment allowing higher
stakes gaming, raising the $5 betting limit to $100.  Craps and roulette games are
also allowed, and casinos now have no state-mandated hours of operation. 

Number of Casinos
• Tribal casinos:   2
• Land-based commercial casinos: 39
• Total: 41

Commercial and tribal casino operations are as follows:
    Slot              Table

                                     Casinos Machines       Games

• Black Hawk: 18   8,846 113
• Cripple Creek: 15   4,535   48
• Central City:   6   1,913   23
• Tribal:   2   1,070   12
• TOTAL: 41 16,364 196

http://www.harrahsrincon.com
http://www.hotwatercasino.com
http://www.jacksoncasino.com
http://www.eaglemtncasino.com
http://www.riverrockcasino.com
http://www.thundervalleyresort.com
http://www.sanpablolytton.com
http://www.casinopauma.com
http://www.featherfallscasino.com
http://www.winriver.com
http://www.blackoakcasino.com
http://www.sparesortcasino.com
http://www.goldcountrycasino.com
http://www.colusacasino.com
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Gross Gaming Revenue, Commercial  Casinos
• 2006: $782.1 million
• 2007: $816.1 million
• 2008: $715.9 million
• 2009: $734.6 million
      Slot              Table

Black Hawk*                           Machines       Games

• Ameristar Casino Black Hawk (www.ameristar.com/blackhawk):   1,549  18
• Isle of Capri Casino (www.isleofcapricasino.com/black_hawk):   1,185  18
• The Lodge Casino at Black Hawk (www.thelodgecasino.com):      976  15
• Fitzgerald’s (www.fitzgeraldsbh.com):        737    8
• Riviera Black Hawk (http://rivierablackhawk.com):        755    8
• Mardi Gras (www.goldencasinogroup.com):      647  13
• Lady Luck Casino 

(www.black-hawk-ladyluck.isleofcapricasinos.com):      588    9
*  Only larger casinos are listed.

Central City*
• Fortune Valley Hotel & Casino (www.fortunevalleycasino.com):      736 10
• Century Casino (www.centurycasinos.com):        510   5
• Famous Bonanza (www.famousbonanza.com):        209   3
*  Only larger casinos are listed.

Cripple Creek*
• Double Eagle Hotel & Casino (www.decasino.com):      534   0
• Bronco Billy’s Sports Bar & Casino 

(www.cripple-creek.co.us/billys.htm):          424   0
• Midnight Rose Casino (www.midnightrose.com):          400   0
• Brass Ass Casino (www.midnightrose.com):      317 11
*  Only larger casinos are listed.

Tribal
• Ute Mountain Casino (www.utemountaincasino.com):      640   7
• Sky Ute Casino (www.skyutecasino.com):        430   5

6.8  Connecticut
    

Overview
• Compacts for Class III casino operations have been made with two tribal nations. 

The two casinos in Connecticut, Foxwoods Resort Casino and Mohegan Sun Hotel
and Casino, are the two highest grossing tribal casinos in the United States. 

Number of Casinos

http://www.ameristar.com/blackhawk
http://www.isleofcapricasino.com/black_hawk
http://www.thelodgecasino.com
http://www.fitzgeraldsbh.com
http://(http://rivierablackhawk.com
http://www.goldencasinogroup.com
http://www.black-hawk-ladyluck.isleofcapricasinos.com
http://www.fortunevalleycasino.com
http://www.centurycasinos.com
http://www.famousbonanza.com
http://www.decasino.com
http://www.cripple-creek.co.us/billys.htm
http://www.midnightrose.com
http://www.midnightrose.com
http://www.utemountaincasino.com
http://www.skyutecasino.com
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• Tribal casinos:    2
• Total:    2

Gross Gaming Revenue, Tribal Casinos
• FY2006: $2.49 billion
• FY2007: $2.53 billion
• FY2008: $2.40 billion
           Slot                Table

Tribal Casinos     Machines         Games

• Mohegan Sun Hotel and Casino (www.mohegansun.com):       7,680            350
• Foxwoods Resort Casino (www.foxwoods.com):       7,200            281
• MGM Grand at Foxwoods (www.mgmatfoxwoods.com)*:       1,400              53
*  Part of Foxwoods

6.9  Delaware
    

Overview
• Legislation passed in 1995 allowed the placement of video lottery terminals (VLTs)

at parimutuel tracks.

Number of Casinos
• Racinos:      3
• Total:      3

Gross Gaming Revenue, Racinos
• 2006: $651.7 million
• 2007: $612.4 million
• 2008: $586.9 million
• 2009: $564.2 million

Racinos     Gaming Machines

• Dover Downs Hotel & Casino (www.doverdowns.com):            3,200
• Delaware Park Racetrack & Slots (www.delawarepark.com):           3,000
• Harrington Raceway (www.harringtonraceway.com):            2,100

6.10  Florida
    

Overview
• The state has compacts with the Miccosukee and Seminole tribes allowing the

operation of Class II gaming casinos.
• In 2005, Florida legislators passed a bill that cleared the way for slot machines at

four Broward County and three Miami-Dade County parimutuel facilities.

http://www.mohegansun.com
http://www.foxwoods.com
http://www.mgmatfoxwoods.com
http://www.doverdowns.com
http://www.delawarepark.com
http://www.harringtonraceway.com

